# Internet exchanges as organisers in the interconnection market

Uta Meier-Hahn, meier-hahn@hiig.de Alexander von Humboldt Institute for Internet and Society

Prepared for the Score International Conference on Organizing Markets, October 16-17, 2014, Stockholm School of Economics, Sweden

**Abstract:** Today's internet is made up of more than 48 000 networks, mostly operated by private actors. Together, they produce connectivity – a resource they all depend upon when doing business. In order to establish connectivity these competitors need to cooperate. Internet exchanges offer technical facilities for networks to "meet" and exchange traffic. It is argued that internet exchanges have a specific disposition to act as organisers that facilitate the cooperation. This disposition and their organisational practices are analysed through the lens of concepts that are rooted in the economics of convention.

**Keywords:** organising; connectivity; internet exchanges; interconnection markets; economics of convention

# Table of contents

1. Introduction
2. Organisers in markets 4
3. The making of connectivity: history and basics
3.1 The internet as a network of networks
3.2 Cooperation an competition: peering and transit
3.3 How the internet interconnection "ecosystem" has changed
and the role of exchanges9
3.4 Commercial vs. not-for-profit internet exchanges 17
3.5 Neutrality as a measure for acceptance
4. Internet exchanges as organisers and the case of peering fora 13
5. Conclusion
6. References

### 1. Introduction

Since the commercialisation of the internet in the early 1990s, a networked market has evolved at the internet's core. Connectivity is the good that all network actors depend on – from access network operators, to carriers, to content delivery networks and they can only produce this good together. The very nature of connectivity requires network actors to cooperate while at the same time often being competitors for the same group of customers. I address the question of how network actors deal with this dilemma with help of internet exchanges, also referred to as internet exchange points (IXPs).

While numerous studies emphasise internet exchanges as key elements in the internet infrastructure<sup>1</sup>, their role as market organisers has not been reflected upon explicitly. This lack of attention comes as a surprise since we are far from having answered the question of "how large-scale distributed systems in the global economy can be governed in the absence of formalized international regimes" (Van Eeten & Mueller 2012). With regard to this uncertainty, any organisational form that manages to align diverse private market actors behind a common purpose (establishing connectivity) or values, seems well worth examining.

The paper is structured as follows: First, a theoretical understanding of organising as a process and the role of organisers in markets is provided. Then the topic of internet interconnection is introduced with a historical backdrop and an excursion towards the interconnection "ecosystem". This is necessary to understand how network actors until today behave in awareness of interdependency while being competitors. In the last part, the theoretical suggestions are mapped to internet exchanges and their activities. Specifically, the example of peering fora illustrates what organising can look like in a networked market that is strongly mitigated by technology.

Throughout the text, citations from an ongoing study are included for illustrational use. They stem from semi-structured interviews and informal discussions with European and North American internet interconnection experts such as peering coordinators from internet service providers, internet exchange operators and industry observers.

<sup>1.</sup> Cf. Brodkin 2013; Chatzis, Smaragdakis, Feldmann, & Willinger, 2013; Clark, Faratin, Bauer, & Lehr, 2008; Clark, Lehr, & Bauer, 2011; DeNardis 2012; Norton 2012; van Eeten & Mueller, 2012

### 2. Organisers in markets

Before discussing how internet exchanges can be regarded as organisers in the market for connectivity, it is necessary to clarify how the term "organiser" will be used in this paper.

Organisation theory distinguishes between the static characteristics of organisation, referring to an order or structure that has been produced, and the dynamic aspect of organising, understood as a process and practice. What most definitions of the practice of organising agree on is that it should be understood as an intentional, systematic action that is motivated by a goal. Scholars disagree whether this goal precedes the action or whether the goal is established through reflexive sensemaking (Weick, Sutcliffe, & Obstfeld, 2005) in the course of action. Drawing on Spann (1925), Pfadenhauer highlights one feature of organisational situations. This feature is that the goal cannot be accomplished directly. So organising is defined as "action that effectuates action". It does so by building a framework that supports the desired action to take place (Pfadenhauer 2008, p. 203). Organisers in this sense are intermediaries who facilitate the coupling of otherwise independent actions.

In the research school economics of convention (EC) this conception of organisers and organising is rephrased. In contrast to Pfadenhauer's model – and more broadly: to new institutionalisms in general (cf. Scott 2008, pp. 55-56) – the focus is not put on actors and their enacting of roles. Thus, the unit of analysis are not roles but situations (Boltanski & Thevenot, 2007, p. 181; Knoll 2013, p. 40). Actors do not adhere to roles, because norms and values are not regarded as being attached to actors. Instead, actors have a critical capacity to evaluate every situation anew (Boltanski & Thevenot, 1999). They can decide which frame of reference and mode of evaluation they find legitimate to apply and, thus, mobilise different values and other resources, depending on the situation. Such interpretive frames can be described as conventions (Diaz-Bone & Thévenot, 2010, p. 5). Accordingly, to the knowledge of the author, the role of organisers has not been deliberated about by EC scholars. There is no such figure as an organiser in the EC.

However, EC scholars have theorised about organisations. They have suggested thinking of organisations as arrangements of conventions, as compromises (Boltanski & Thevenot, 2007, p. 36; Diaz-Bone 2009, p. 236). Following both the situational focus and the idea of organisations as compromises, organisers can be seen as entities that influence specific processes of ordering in a way that actors find legitimate in that specific situation. Organisers facilitate compromises, they foster conventional arrangements.

As Díaz-Bone and Thévenot (2010) point out, at the centre of the EC is a set of interrelated concepts. Some of these concepts are presented in a check-

list form here in order to apply them to internet exchanges later. Because by drawing upon these concepts an analysis of organising can be performed. It allows to identify organisers as entities that engage in such activities.

- *Discourse*: Organisers facilitate the exchange of opinions, they promote a discourse by arranging or supporting situations of intersubjectivity.
- *Devices* (Boltanski & Thevenot, 1999, pp. 366-373; Thevenot 2001, pp. 410-411): Organisers identify devices that can bridge different conventions.
- Form investments (Thévenot 1984, 2002, p. 9): Organisers contribute to shaping formats of information and promote them.
- *Quality conventions* (Díaz Bone 2008; Favereau, Biencourt, & Eymard-Duvernay, 2002): Organisers communicate quality conventions by which goods and services are evaluated on a market.

Organisers do not exclusively pursue these activities. Any market actor can engage in the same way. However, not every actor is equally accepted and trusted by other market actors. In order to "effectuate action", in order to be heard and in order to facilitate compromises, organisers need legitimacy themselves.

Organisational theory blossomed due to its applicability to economic entities such as firms. In this context, it is usually assumed that the organiser's activity is backed up by a direct mandate. In a market environment however, entities interact with each other in the absence of a formal governance structure. Organising markets seems to be a contradiction. If there is nobody to designate roles or responsibilities, what are the sources of legitimacy which organisers in markets can draw upon to be accepted as such? And how great is the integrational force of this legitimacy?

## 3. The making of connectivity: history and basics

#### 3.1 The internet as a network of networks

The internet is a network of networks. More than 48 000 networks made up the internet in September 2014 (Bates, Smith, & Huston, 2014). Technically, these networks are called autonomous systems (AS). Organisations that operate an autonomous system are referred to as network actors in this article. Network actors may include carriers, internet service providers, access providers, content delivery networks or organisations with a mixed portfolio. They all have to connect their network(s) to other networks in order to establish connectivity. Connectivity on the internet refers to the situation in which data packets from one end of the network can be routed to any other point of the internet, usually by making hops through a number of in-between networks. Connectivity is the central idea of the internet. The internet relies upon successful interconnection arrangements between network actors at the core of the network. Internet traffic pass through them. The rest passes through direct so-called cross-connects or private network interconnects.



(Internet interconnection takes place at the core of the internet (blue). Internet exchanges (IXPs) allow network actors to connect (red). Adapted from Kurose & Ross, 2003/2013, p. 23)

#### 3.2 Cooperation an competition: peering and transit

Technologically, an important milestone in the development of internet interconnection occurred in 1986. It was during this year that standards were introduced and adopted for the interconnection of networks which used the internet protocol  $(IP)^{23}$ . By 1990 IP had spread as the main protocol for wide area network interconnection internationally (Leiner et al., 1999). This technically allowed for the interoperability that was necessary to get IP-based interconnection facilities going anywhere in the world.

From the regulatory side, a significant step was taken in 1992 with the commercialisation of the internet's backbone, i.e. the principle, long-distance data routes which connect the core routers of the internet. The US National Science Foundation determined that the previously government-funded core of the internet should be operated by the private sector.

With commercialisation, however, also came a change of attitude towards internet interconnection. The internet had been started in academic institutions and research centres. Building connectivity was seen as proof of the concept and a necessarily collaborative effort to make the internet work. Now the backbone of the internet transitioned into the economic realm (1999). Commodification of infrastructure provision took up. Regional network service providers could get connectivity from several backbone operators in a competitive process (Norton 2012, pp. 102-103).

These specific policy decisions about the operation of the internet were in line with the liberalisation of the telecommunications sector in general. In the USA, Europe and many more places around the world, deregulation started between the mid 1980s and the 1990s (Lazer & Mayer-Schonberger, 2001). Where monopolistic telecommunication structures were transformed towards more open, regulated forms of competition, new backbone and access networks could emerge. A growing number of network actors needed to establish connectivity. This gave way to the evolution of what is sometimes referred to as the interconnection "ecosystem" (Norton 2012, pp. 99-149).<sup>4</sup>

<sup>2.</sup> The standards were introduced in the RFC 985 "Requirements for Internet Gateways --Draft" (Landweber, Lauck, Mills, & Perry, 1986). RFCs are the documents in which new standards for internet technology are being proposed to members of the Internet Engineering Task Force (IETF). The IETF is an open organisation with the aim of improving the internet by producing technical documents to be used by network engineers around the world.

<sup>3.</sup> Early precursors of internet exchange points were called Internet Gateways, followed by Network Access Points (NAPs) (Leiner et al., 1999).

<sup>4.</sup> Differences in national regulatory frameworks have and continue to shape interconnection practices around the world. Regulatory intervention may happen e.g. in

Similar to other networked markets like the markets for air transportation or telephone connectivity, there is also a tension between cooperation and competition in the market for internet interconnection. All network actors depend on connectivity as the resource or basis of their business. They can only produce this together. At the same time there is competition when network actors negotiate supply and demand in interconnection agreements (Zarnekow, Wulf, & von Bornstaedt, 2013, p. 60).

There are two kinds of economic relationships in internet interconnection which mirror awareness of this concurrence of cooperation and competition: peering and transit. Both indicate distinct conventions.

Peering denotes cooperation. It typically describes a settlement-free interconnection relationship.<sup>5</sup> Two parties agree to directly exchange traffic between their networks and deliver this traffic along the routes of their networks free-of-charge. Both parties benefit from this cooperation because by exchanging traffic directly, they both avoid sending it over third party networks for which they would have to pay. Peering became a paradigm for small and medium-sized networks because it allows them to bypass the pay-to-use connectivity offered by transit providers. Peering relationships are settled in a highly informal way: According to an OECD survey, in 2011, out of all peering agreements in the internet an estimated 99.51% were based on handshake agreements only (Weller & Woodcock, 2012). There are no contracts and no guarantees. Since internet exchanges are the places where numerous networks can meet and exchange traffic directly in this mutually beneficial way of peering, they have become associated with or founded in the spirit of cooperation. By cooperating at internet exchanges, network actors bundle forces against incumbent telecoms.

*Transit* on the other hand, implies a vendor-customer relationship. It involves charges, typically per amount of traffic and it is a slightly different service. Transit is the termination of traffic at *any endpoint* of the global internet, not just the delivery to the endpoints that the partnering network has at

form of limiting access to the market, by binding internet interconnection to transparency rules (France) or by making certain interconnections mandatory within a jurisdiction (China). Detailing this would be beyond the scope of this article. However, it is important to keep in mind, that even though the internet is global in scope, and even though standards for interconnection have been adopted all over the world, there are regional differences in the regulatory frameworks that apply to and influence internet interconnection.

<sup>(</sup>In awareness of regional differences in interconnection practices – most prominently between the United States of America and Europe – this article will focus on the internet interconnection landscape in Europe.

<sup>5.</sup> Paid peering also exists, but rather as exception of the rule.

hand directly. So peering only refers to the exchange of data packets between two networks and does not necessarily involve the termination of packets at *any* endpoint of the network, but transit does.

# 3.3 How the internet interconnection "ecosystem" has changed and the role of exchanges

During the initial phase of the commercial internet, the topology of the network resembled a hierarchy. Payments for the transmission of traffic generally would go from bottom to top in this hierarchy.



("Traditional Internet logical topology". Source: Labovitz, Iekel-Johnson, Mc-Pherson, Oberheide, & Jahanian, 2010, p. 4)

*Tier1*: At the top of this hierarchy were backbone operators, often referred to as Tier1 internet service providers. Tier1s typically stemmed from exmonopolist telecommunications providers. They maintained long-haul connections and, by definition, have access to the routes to any endpoint of the internet in that region – just through settlement-free peering relationships (Norton 2012, p. 111). Tier1s by definition, do not pay for transit. (2012, p. 114)

*Tier2*: On the next lower level were so-called Tier2s. These regional internet service providers operate networks only in a limited area. In order to reach another region, they had to buy transit from the Tier1 backbone operators who would then route the Tier2's traffic to other regions.

Access networks: At the bottom of the hierarchy were local internet access networks, Tier3s. The customers of access networks are individual or organisational end-users who pay for access to the global internet. Access networks were in a customer relationship with Tier2 providers from whom they bought transit. Access networks typically were not connected to internet exchange points.

Internet exchanges or internet exchange points (IXPs): Internet exchanges or network access points (their predecessors) were locations where Tier2s and Tier1s could meet to interconnect for transit if they did not want to invest in private interconnections. However, the exchanges did not only provide the infrastructure to enable transit relationships. They also enabled those Tier2 networks to interconnect with each other directly. Peering since has come to be regarded as economically advantageous for networks which knew that they had similar traffic flows between each other. By exchanging this traffic directly at the IXP, the Tier2s cut out the Tier1 from the equation. Both Tier2s saved the money they otherwise would have had to pay for transit to reach the other Tier2. Direct peering relationships had another advantage: the Tier2s would reduce the number networks that their traffic would have to pass through. So peering at that time was not only cheaper than buying transit but it also reduced the latency. Direct peering enhanced the quality of experience for the end users.



("Emerging new Internet logical topology". Source: Labovitz et al., 2010, p. 4)

Roughly within the last ten years, actors and traffic flows on the internet have gradually changed in a way towards more direct interconnection relationships as can be seen in the graphic above. The number of peering relationships *across* different stages of this hierarchy increased, but there were also infrastructure innovations such as content delivery networks (CDN) that undermined the hierarchical structure. The internet's topology has started to change "from hierarchy to mesh" (2010).

By facilitating cooperation among network actors, internet exchanges played a vital role in contesting this hierarchy.

#### 3.4 Commercial vs. not-for-profit internet exchanges

In September 2014, a total of 460 internet exchanges were known to exist. These exchanges are distributed as follows: 193 in the regions of Europe, Central Asia and the Middle East, 97 in North America, 89 in the Asia Pacific region, 51 in South America and the Caribbean and 30 in Africa. 103 countries have at least one internet exchange<sup>6</sup> ("List of Known IXPs Around the Globe," n.d.).

Interconnection facilities come in various shapes and sizes. They differ by foundational context, ownership, business model, governance model, the services they offer, underlying local regulations, and joining requirements for members. So there is both room and need for a comprehensive analysis of internet exchanges around the world in order to make broader assessments.<sup>7</sup>

In order to indicate the spectrum, two distinct types of internet exchanges shall be delineated: commercial and not-for-profit exchanges. Both of these types are common, yet they differ with regard to their disposition to act as organisers in the market. In a well-known industry handbook, the not-for-profit characteristics have been coined the "European model" whereas the commercial characteristics are referred to as the "US model" (Norton 2012, pp. 240-250). Since there are several counterexamples this attribution should only be taken for tentative orientation.

*Not-for-profit exchanges*: In Europe, the majority of all internet exchanges are of a non-commercial nature, even though commercial exchanges have been founded within the last few years. The first European internet exchanges emerged out of academic institutions and were later transformed into associations with boards and members who have voting power. Examples include two of the largest exchanges, the Amsterdam Internet Exchange (AMSIX) and the London Internet Exchange (LINX), both established in 1994. The members pay fees which are calculated towards covering the costs for the professional operation and development of the exchange. Not-for-profit exchanges are accountable to their members. Their orientation towards catering for the interests of their communities is deeply enshrined in their organisational structure. In this, they differ profoundly from commercially driven exchange points.

*Commercial exchanges*: Commercial internet exchanges are often operated by data centre companies which also offer other services such as co-location

<sup>6.</sup> The regions refer to the administrative regions in which the internet has been divided, starting in 1990. In each of these regions a Regional Internet Registry (RIR) manages the internet address space in a self-regulatory fashion.

<sup>7.</sup> For a tentative overview see Silvius (2011).

and rackspace. Sometimes, they do not even call themselves internet exchanges. For such companies, internet interconnection is one out of several sources of revenue. Due to their commercial setup, these facilities have one freedom that not-for-profit exchanges lack: They can attract specific customers by applying differentiated pricing strategies, such as offering discounts to important customers. They do not need to treat all members equally. Since the economic value of an internet exchange point also derives from both the number and the kinds of networks that are available for peering, this freedom gives commercial exchanges a strategic advantage over not-for-profit exchanges. However, for the customers, a commercial setup also implies that they have no say in the management and future operations of this exchange. It is the owner who manages the exchange and decisions are inevitably skewed towards generating a profit. This puts the customer network actors in a dependent position.

#### 3.5 Neutrality as a measure for acceptance

"An IXP is not a player in this market. [...] The actors are the ISPs. The actors are the ones who make their choices." (Senior interconnection expert)

Internet exchanges are positioned as intermediaries between network actors.<sup>8</sup> Network actors have to be able to trust the internet exchange in numerous ways, e.g. with regard to security. That is why neutrality is an important concept for internet exchanges, even though it may be interpreted differently. Neutrality can be evaluated in different dimensions which show that not-forprofit exchanges have a strong advantage in being perceived as neutral because of their self-regulatory governance model.

- *Governance model*: If the decision-making processes of an exchange are based on democratic principles this is associated with neutrality. In this sense, neutrality equals self-governance and members' will. It means that the operator cannot set his own agenda for the exchange. Association-based exchanges will qualify as neutral in this sense, both commercially driven and state-regulated exchanges will not.
- *Peering policy*: A neutral exchange will strike an acceptable balance between establishing rules but not interfere with the member's businesses. What is acceptable, obviously lies in the eye of the be-

<sup>8.</sup> The strong desire to be perceived as neutral can even result in exchanges denying their intermediary role all together. A reason for this may be regulator's increasing interest in intermediary regulation and the still unfixed definitions of what constitutes an intermediary in the regulatory sense of the word.

holder. Especially the largest network actors may find a policy not acceptable if it requires all members to peer with each other. A neutral peering policy would leave the interconnection decisions to the members.

- *Fees*: If the same pricing scheme applies to all members, neutrality refers to equal treatment of members and potential members.
- Scope of activities: Sometimes internet exchanges engage in net politics, for instance by actively participating in internet governance fora. Neutrality in this regard denotes exchanges that refrain from voicing political opinions.

By emphasising their neutrality internet exchanges can foster their members' trust. They need this trust in order to become accepted as organisers in a global market environment that is subject to distributed and contested rulemaking authorities.

"The internet relies on trust. A peering person has to trust the internet exchange will upgrade in time and not manage the traffic to their advantage but to their member's advantage. Or he has to trust that the exchange will keep people's traffic private and two peers have to trust that they'll work in good faith of each other and get rid of network abuse without degrading the quality of their competitor's internet access service." (Chief technology officer)

# 4. Internet exchanges as organisers and the case of peering fora

In the section "Organisers in markets" (pp. 4-5) organisers and their activities were defined by the following criteria: Organisers are motivated by a goal which cannot be accomplished directly. They act intentionally and systematically in order to effectuate action which otherwise would not take place. They do so by building a framework which supports the desired action to occur. If market actors accept this as a common frame of reference, compromises between otherwise diverging conventions become possible, even under conditions of competition. The fabric of this frame can consist of a shared discourse, devices, formats of information or quality conventions.

Internet exchanges do not per se conform with all of these criteria, but they have an ability to do so. The *goal* is to produce the internet as a network of networks and as a market place by allowing for easy interconnection. This has been the very idea behind internet exchanges, starting with commercialisation of the internet backbone. Exchanges have an inherent interest in growing their member or customer bases in order for network actors to interconnect. More members make them more attractive for future members because those will have more options for interconnection. "A successful exchange point is like a well-attended party", notes industry expert Bill Norton (2012, p. 87). Internet exchanges' motivation to grow may be grounded in commercial interest or, in the case of association-based exchanges, in their devotion to a member community. The latter may even have a mandate to do outreach and engage in fostering an interconnection-friendly environment.

Enhancing connectivity is a widely shared goal by many actors in the internet economy. Still, connectivity remains a network effect which *cannot be established directly* on the internet. There is neither one network actor that could enable full connectivity, nor a central authority that oversees internet interconnection. According to the open technological standards of the internet, anybody can contribute to this infrastructure. Network actors strongly interdepend on each other (Meier-Hahn 2014, pp. 13-19) while interacting on a voluntary basis. This also implies that there are limits to the organisational scope that internet exchanges can develop: They can foster interconnection between network actors, but they cannot decide about it, enforce or control it. Internet exchanges facilitate internet interconnection, but they do not directly effectuate it.

As *intermediaries*, internet exchanges can act as organisers by offering a *framework for cooperation* in a competitive market place. How do they do so? The most obvious organisational activity is that they offer a location where network actors can connect their networks by use of up-to-date technical equipment. The internet exchange facilities and their equipment are *devices* that extend the technical standards and the possible arrangements in internet interconnection into the future. Standards on the internet are important means to communicate *quality conventions*. For instance, the standards of the internet have allowed to include prioritisation requests in each and every IP packet that is sent through the internet since many years. However, as a convention, this classificatory information is not interpreted by the routers that are used at internet exchanges. So even if network actors wanted, they could not abandon net neutrality at the core of the public internet. So the configuration of the routing devices at the core of the internet actually stabilises the best-effort principle as a quality convention.<sup>9</sup>

Beyond that, there is a plethora of outreach activities which internet exchanges engage in. For instance, they generate and publish statistics, maintain

<sup>9.</sup> The best-effort principle means that the internet is set up to deliver all packets with the best of effort. But no guarantees are given with regard to loss of packets or delay.

mailing-lists for network engineers or provide interconnection trainings. In the words of the EC these are all *formats of information*.<sup>10</sup>

Most prominently though, internet exchanges organise peering fora. Peering fora are invite-only events where network engineers and peering coordinators gather.<sup>11</sup> This is a very direct way to foster a common *discourse*. Typically, the meeting place for a peering forum will have a high recreational value, and so-called "socials" with drinks and entertainment are explicitly part of the agenda. The second unique item on the agenda are time slots for pre-booked meetings: Mediated by an online booking tool, any participant can request a 30 minute one-on-one meeting with any other participant. An internet exchange operator described this as "speed dating for networks" which both highlights the informal character of these dates and emphasises their efficiency.

"There are people who just don't show up at these meetings. Those, I have to visit individually. **Here, it is the easiest thing.** I usually come here to **discuss capacity planning**. We talk about **which expansions we expect** [at our company, ed.]." (Peering coordinator at a peering forum)

Within the industry, peering fora have an ambivalent reputation: Some network actors point out how they benefit from the personal contact with other interconnection professionals. They perceive these fora as bringing about business advantages – be it in terms of new peering agreements or in less tangible terms such as personal relationships. The latter may be helpful in the future, for instance when having to troubleshoot network problems – remember: network actors interdepend on each other. Other network actors deride such meetings as "inefficient", without having even actually participated in one. They think that the participants use the fora as an excuse to get drunk together.

#### "That's a uniquely **Euro centric view**. (...) Europe has an **extraordinary business culture** that is, to the rest of the world, **inconceivably permissive of inefficiency**." (Senior interconnection expert on peering fora)

From personal observation and talks, there seems to be some truth in both assessments: The participants definitely enjoy the lively atmosphere. "Beering" as of "peering" and "beer" is a buzzword many use with a wink. But all of the people I talked to at a peering forum had an explicit, work-rela-

<sup>10.</sup> It should be noted that the degree of organisational involvement differs significantly between IXPs. This article focusses on understanding their disposition and bringing to the fore the organisational mechanics and practices.

<sup>11.</sup> In Europe the 9th annual Peering Forum took place in September 2014, organised by the European Internet Exchange Association (Euro-IX).

ted agenda for the event and a tight meeting schedule. Socialising is part of this business.

Such differing assessments of peering fora seem to be contradictory. However, from an EC point of view it does not come as a surprise. The divergent views are voiced with reference to an activity that has an organisational impetus, and organising means facilitating compromises or temporarily locking arrangements of conventions.

"The best ones [IXPs, ed.] that I've seen are the ones that **understand all parties** that are concerned in the deal. They understand what needs to be done to make the operations of the IXP **work efficiently**. And **they understand that there's other parties involved** – that there's vendors [...] that you need to have a great relationship with (...) and **they also have their own goals** to make money from your members." (High level internet exchange advisor)

In internet interconnection, numerous conventions can be found<sup>12</sup>: Those who speak up for or sell transit (see p. #) follow a clear market convention in which connectivity and bandwidth are compensated with money. The idea and practice of peering (see p. #) however, already lies at an intersection of a market and a civic frame of reference: In a mutually beneficial peering relationship, both parties calculate the cost they can save by peering (market rationale). But peering can also express solidarity, cooperation and a valuation of the internet as a whole, as a collective good (civic rationale). Further, there is a domestic convention: Since interconnected network actors have to rely on each other in day to day operations, some may value trust as an important asset. This is also exemplified by the prevalence of handshake agreements. Trust is an elementary relation in the domestic realm where knowledge and experience are shared orally and by means of anecdotes. An event that emphasises socialising, strongly supports this kind of informal knowledge exchange. This is why some network actors like peering fora. Finally, even elements of a convention that centres around reputation can be found in internet interconnection. Despite the fact that many network actors sell a seemingly interchangeable product (connectivity and transport of IP-packets), they may have a certain standing - good, bad or even famous.

"Everybody knows each other. [...] This is like a small circle of people. You will always meet again. Network engineers always meet again in life." (Network architect)

A preliminary insight, based on the first interviews is, that network engineers and peering coordinators perceive of themselves as a small, but global community of experts. In this community some persons are especially well known and credited for merits they may have earned as technicians (for in-

<sup>12.</sup> The concept of conventions and six general orders of worth has been developed by Thévenot and Boltanski in On JUSTIFICATION (Boltanski & Thevenot, 2007).

stance by writing important standards), as charismatic figures with a vision, or as entrepreneurs.

While the plurality of conventions does not say anything about how these conventions relate, the plurality itself is notable. Peering for aare arrangements where divergent conventions live side by side.

#### "It is all about money." (Two peering coordinators)

In personal communication it was suggested that during these events participants with a clear interest or business policy may cross the bridge towards accepting a competing rationale. Internet exchanges actively foster this atmosphere of cooperation by offering room both for explicit business negotiations and by creating a friendly atmosphere that allows network actors to build social relationships over time. In other words: Internet exchanges can facilitate a shared discourse and establish the fora as a format of information.

"You have to remember, that **the internet is 40.000 competitors** who are competing with each other. But **if they don't work together, then none of them have a product**. So being grown up and socialising, that doesn't have to mean sitting in a nightclub until five in the morning. It does mean: being able to **talk to each other on mutual ground, as equals**. And that means that we as competitors can work together and **deliver that one product**: (?) good quality internet. If we were trying to do this **without the beering**, without the socialising, **it would be very difficult to break down that competitive angle**." (Chief technology officer)

By way of example it became evident how internet exchanges can act as organisers in the interconnection market. In several interviews, experts referred to two other types of events which serve the interconnection community in a similar way: network operator group meetings and meetings that are organised by the Regional Internet Registries. From a preliminary assessment, both of these bodies will likely qualify as organisers as well. They also can draw upon neutrality in order to be accepted as facilitators, and they also engage in educational programmes. However, internet exchanges are distinct from these bodies for two reasons: One is that internet exchanges actually participate in the interconnection relationship by providing the interconnection fabric – even if they take measures not to be perceived as intermediating. The second reason is that internet exchanges have an interest in pushing peering because they may have a mandate to grow and this makes their own offer more attractive.

### 5. Conclusion

Thinking markets together with organising as a process is an interesting approach to discover processes and practices of coordination in markets which would be invisible from a structural perspective.

Organisers have been introduced as entities that intentionally facilitate and try to influence action and thereby contribute to coordination. For organisational activities in markets it is assumed that there needs to be a goal behind which the participating parties can align (while they may have other, competing goals). So organising as a process is directional, but it is not direct. It is thought of as an integrating force towards a goal in order to actually "effectuate action". For internet exchanges, the higher goal to foster connectivity is enshrined in their technological heritage, in their mandate and for the commercial exchanges: even in their business model.

It became evident that in a market environment, an organiser needs to be granted legitimacy in order to be accepted by actors who adjust their actions voluntarily. Neutrality and a common goal are sources of legitimacy for organisers in a networked market. Both of these elements foster trust in the process. And network actors cannot but seek trust in interconnection as they interdepend on each other and the system of the internet is live.

The process of organising is aimed at facilitating compromises. This involves establishing practical commonalities such as a shared space, accepted formats of information, shared devices or quality conventions. This is not to be mixed up with mediating: organisers minimise their role as intermediaries. Internet exchanges for instance do not participate in negotiating the content of interconnection agreements between network actors. And they do not attempt to discuss which interpretational frame in internet interconnection is the right one - whether price, experience, technical expertise, future orientation or reputation is a good mode of evaluation when it comes to a business relationship between two networks. Facilitating arrangements of such conventions means that the network actors are left directly and privately in touch with each other. It creates a common ground where the actor's different frames of reference are acknowledged and at the same time put in perspective. The relativistic atmosphere - paired with at least one common goal: to produce connectivity - is what fosters a surprisingly open atmosphere in this competitive market.

It would be interesting to learn more about how important or even necessary the practice of organising is in interconnection markets. One way to find out about this could be to analyse markets that have *not* developed well – despite good infrastructural and regulatory preconditions. This is for instance the case in the Arab region. If interconnection does not flourish there, *despite* the existence of organisers by the above mentioned criteria, this could be an indicator that either conceptually, organising needs to be adjusted culturally or that it is not so important for a market to function overall. However, if there are no organisers, this may be an indicator that networked markets rely on organisers to build the bridge between cooperation and competition.

# 6. References

Bates, T., Smith, P., & Huston, G. (2014). *CIDR Report*. Retrieved from http://www.cidr-report.org/as2.0/

Boltanski, L., & Thevenot, L. (1999). The Sociology of Critical Capacity. *European* Journal of Social Theory, 2(3), 359-377. doi:10.1177/136843199002003010

Boltanski, L., & Thevenot, L. (2007). Über die Rechtfertigung: Eine Soziologie der kritischen Urteilskraft. Hamburg: Verlag Hamburger Ed.

Brodkin, J. (2013). Why YouTube buffers: The secret deals that make—and break—online video. *Ars Technica*. Retrieved from http://arstechnica.com/information-technology/2013/07/why-youtube-buffers-the-secret-deals-that-make-and-break-online-video

Chatzis, N., Smaragdakis, G., Feldmann, A., & Willinger, W. (2013). On the importance of Internet eXchange Points for today's Internet ecosystem. *ArXiv Preprint Ar-Xiv:1307.5264*. Retrieved from Google Scholar.

Clark, D., Faratin, P., Bauer, S., & Lehr, W. (2008). The Growing Complexity of Internet Interconnection. *COMMUNICATIONS AND STRATEGIES*, (72), 51-72. Retrieved from WorldCat.

Clark, D., Lehr W., Bauer S. (2011). Interconnection in the Internet: the policy challenge. Presented at "TPRC 39 - Research Conference on Communication, Information and Internet Policy". Retrieved from: http://groups.csail.mit.edu/ana/Publications/Interconnection\_in\_the\_Internet\_the\_policy\_challenge\_tprc-2011.pdf

DeNardis, L. (2012). Governance at the Internet's Core: The Geopolitics of Interconnection and Internet exchange points in Emerging Markets. Retrieved from: http://ssrn.com/abstract=2029715

Diaz-Bone, R. (2009). Konvention, Organisation und Institution. Der institutionentheoretische Beitrag der "Économie des conventions" . *Historical Social Research*, 34(2), 235-264. Retrieved from http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-286818

Diaz-Bone, R., & Thévenot, L. (2010). Die Soziologie der Konventionen. Die Theorie der Konventionen als ein zentraler Bestandteil der neuen französischen Sozialwissenschaften. *Trivium*, *5*. Retrieved from http://trivium.revues.org/3557

Díaz Bone, R. (2008). Quality conventions as structuring principles in markets. Presented at "Relational sociology: Transatlantic impulses for the social sciences". Retrieved from: http://www.rainer-diaz-bone.de/DiazBone\_QualityConventions.pdf

Favereau, O., Biencourt, O., & Eymard-Duvernay, F. (2002). Where do markets come from? From (quality) conventions!. In *Conventions and Structures in Economic Organization. Markets, Networks and Hierarchies* (pp. 222-252). Cheltenham, UK; Northampton, Mass.: Edward Elgar.

Knoll, L. (2013). Justification, Conventions, and Institutions in Economic Fields. *Economic Sociology - European Electronic Newsletter*, 14(2), 39-45.

Kurose, J. F., & Ross, K. W. (2013). Computer Networks and the Internet. In *Computer Networking. A Top-Down Approach* (6 ed., pp. 1-82). New Jersey: Pearson Education. (Original work published 2003)

Labovitz, C., Iekel-Johnson S., et al. (2010). Internet inter-domain traffic. Presented at "ACM SIGCOMM Computer Communication Review". Retrieved from: http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/1851275.1851194

Landweber, L., Lauck, T., Mills, D., & Perry, D. (1986). RFC 985: Requirements for Internet Gateways -- DRAFT. [Drafted by the Network Working Group/Network Technical Advisory Group (NSF)] (Drafted by the Network Working Group/Network Technical Advisory Group (NSF)). Retrieved from http://tools.ietf.org/html/rfc985

Lazer, D., & Mayer-Schonberger, V. (2001). Governing networks: telecommunication deregulation in Europe and the United States. *Brook. J. Int'l L.*, 27, 819. Retrieved from http://www.hks.harvard.edu/davidlazer/files/papers/Lazer\_Governing-Networks-2002.pdf

Leiner, B. M., Cerf, V. G., Clark, D. D., Kahn, R. E., Kleinrock, L., Lynch, D. C., . . . Wolff, S. (1999). A Brief History of the Internet. Retrieved from: http://arxiv.org/ html/cs.NI/9901011

List of Known IXPs Around the Globe. (n.d.). List of known IXPs around the globe. [Web page]. Retrieved from https://www.euro-ix.net/resources-list-of-ixps

Meier-Hahn, U. (2014). Internet interconnection: how the Economics of Convention can inform the discourse on internet governance. Presented at "Global Internet Governance Academic Network Symposium 2014". Retrieved from: http://www.zweit-geburtsort.de/s/GigaNet-2014\_How-Economics-of-Convention-can-inform-the-discourse-on-internet-governance.pdf

Norton, W. B. (2012). *The Internet Peering Playbook: Connecting to the Core of the Internet* (2nd ed.). Palo Alto, California: DrPeering Press.

Pfadenhauer, M. (2008). Organisieren. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

Scott, W. R. (2008). Crafting an Analytic Framework 1 - Three Pillars of Institutions. In *Institutions and organizations : ideas and interests* (pp. 47-71). Los Angeles: Sage Publications.

Silvius, S. (2011). Internet Exchange Points. A closer look ath the differences between continental Europe and the rest of the world. European Internet Exchange Point Association. Retrieved from https://www.euro-ix.net/documents/894-ixp-research-pdf?download=yes

Thevenot, L. (2001). Organized Complexity: Conventions of Coordination and the Composition of Economic Arrangements. *European Journal of Social Theory*, 4(4), 405-425. doi:10.1177/13684310122225235

Thévenot, L. (1984). Rules and implements: investment in forms. Social Science Information, 23(1), 1-45.

Thévenot, L. (2002). Conventions of co-ordination and the framing of uncertainty. In E. Fullbrook (Ed.), *Intersubjectivity in Economics. London and New York: Routledge* (pp. 181-197). London: Routledge.

van Eeten, M. J., & Mueller, M. (2012). Where is the governance in Internet governance? *New Media & Society.* 

Weick, K. E., Sutcliffe, K. M., & Obstfeld, D. (2005). Organizing and the Process of Sensemaking. *Organization Science*, 16(4), 409-421. doi:10.1287/orsc.1050.0133

Weller, D., & Woodcock, B. (2012). Internet Traffic Exchange: Market Developments and Policy Challenges. *OECD Digital Economy Papers*, *No. 207.* doi:10.1787/5k918gpt130q-en

Zarnekow, R., Wulf, J., & von Bornstaedt, F. (2013). Internetwirtschaft Das Geschäft des Datentransports im Internet. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Gabler. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-36687-1